1989

J. Richard Calder v. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

JURISDICTION

The authority believed to confer jurisdiction on the Supreme Court of the State of Utah to hear this appeal from a recommendation of discipline by the Board of Bar Commissioners (the "Board") of the Utah State Bar (the "Bar") is Article VIII, Section 3 of the Utah Constitution and Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(3)(c) (1988).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The following issues are presented for review in this case:

1. Whether many of the factual findings upon which the Bar's disciplinary hearing panel (the "Panel") based its recommendation that appellant, J. Richard Calder ("Calder") be disbarred exceeded the express or implied scope of conduct outlined by the Bar's two complaints against Calder.

2. Whether in investigating and deciding one of the two disciplinary complaints, the Panel misapprehended applicable substantive law, thereby inducing it to enter a number of clearly erroneous factual findings.

3. Whether many of the findings of fact upon which the Panel concluded that Calder should be disbarred were either not established with the clear and convincing evidence required by Rule XII(c) of the Bar's Procedures of Discipline (the

"Procedures") and/or are so clearly erroneous as to require that they be overturned.

4. Whether the Panel improperly failed to consider several mitigating factors in electing to recommend the draconian remedy of disbarment.

5. Whether the recommendation of disbarment is so completely disproportionate to the conduct found by the Panel to constitute ethical violations as to be arbitrary, capricious and unreasonable.

DETERMINATIVE STATUTES, ORDINANCES OR RULES

There are no constitutional provisions, statutes, ordinances, rules or regulations whose interpretation is believed to be solely determinative of the outcome of this case. However, many provisions of the Bar's Rules of Professional Conduct and the Procedures are relevant to the disposition of this appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

(1) Nature of Case, Course of Proceedings and Disposition by the Panel and the Board. This is a disciplinary proceeding instituted by the Bar's counsel pursuant to Rule VIII(e) of the Procedures. After its formal complaints (the "Complaints") were consolidated, the Panel conducted an evidentiary hearing both on the Complaints and on issues not raised by the Complaints. On February 16, 1989, the Panel made and entered its

Findings of Fact, (the "Findings") Conclusions of Law (the "Conclusions") and Recommendation of Discipline (the "Recommendation") which were adopted by the Board on March 24, 1989. (See App. i). Calder timely objected to the Findings, Conclusions and Recommendation. (R. 141-55). After considering the objections, a three member hearing panel of the Board perfunctorily denied them by order dated May 24, 1989. (R. 195-6). It is that determination, together with the underlying Findings, Conclusions and Recommendations, from which this appeal is taken.

A. Procedural Background.

Calder has been licensed to practice law in the State of Utah since August, 1974. (Tr. 275).¹ Since 1981, Calder's primary area of practice has been bankruptcy. (Tr. 279.) He serviced approximately 700 to 800 bankruptcy cases per year during 1985, 1986 and 1987, see Tr. 283-85, and a substantial number of additional bankruptcy cases before 1985. (Tr. 279). Of the several thousand clients Calder represented between 1974 and the present, only two of them -- Larry Bailey ("Bailey") and

¹ All references to the trial transcript will be to the original page number assigned by the reporter, and not to the pagination scheme employed by the Bar.

Dennis Job ("Job") -- filed written complaints against Calder with the Bar.²

The Bar's formal complaint in the Bailey matter was filed on October 23, 1987. (Trial Ex. B-1 attached hereto as App. ii). The Bar's formal amended complaint in the Job matter was filed on June 2, 1987. (Trial Ex. B-27 attached hereto as App. iii). Neither of the Complaints made any mention of the Bar's intent to scrutinize Calder's conduct for any period after 1986. Id.

B. Bailey Complaint and Disposition.

Bailey retained Calder in 1978 to file a Chapter 7 bankruptcy petition for him. (Tr. 28). Bailey claimed, and the Panel so found, that Bailey informed Calder of the existence of a judgment in the amount of \$1,400.00 arising from an automobile accident in which Bailey was involved; that Calder inadvertently

² While it is true that in 1983 a clerk of the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Utah referred to the Bar 20 separate alleged deficiencies that the clerk discerned in Calder's representation of clients, the Bar's investigation was concluded by a private reprimand. Notably, none of those clients ever made any complaint to the Bar regarding any aspect of Calder's representation of their interests. The private reprimand, obviously, is relevant only to the issue of the sanction, if any, to be imposed against Calder. It is not relevant to the issue of whether Calder breached any of the ethical and professional obligations alleged by the Bar's Complaints in his representation of Messers. Bailey and Job.

failed to list the judgment on Bailey's bankruptcy schedule; that as a result of that omission, Bailey was precluded from obtaining a Utah driver's license necessary for his employment as an erstwhile truck driver; and, that as a result of that omission, Bailey was unable to obtain employment for an unspecified period of time. (Findings Nos. 1(a) and (p); R. 121, 151).

The "evidence" supporting the finding that the omission of the judgment debt precluded Bailey from obtaining a Utah driver's license consists solely of hearsay i.e., what an unspecified representative of the Utah Department of Motor Vehicles allegedly told Bailey the consequences of his failure to have the judgment satisfied or discharged would be. (See Tr. 35, 76). The record is devoid of any copy of the alleged judgment, any official records maintained by the Utah Department of Motor Vehicles even hinting at the existence of the alleged judgment, or any proof that during 1979 (the year in which Bailey claimed he was denied a new driver's license) Utah law provided that a judgment debtor's discharge in bankruptcy could facilitate the issuance of a renewed license.³

³ Indeed, as demonstrated in Argument II infra, Utah law in 1979 provided just the opposite. Utah Code Ann., § 41-12-15 (1979) provided in pertinent part that "[a] discharge in bankruptcy following the rendering of any such judgment shall not relieve the judgment debtor from any of the requirements of this act."

In 1983, Bailey complained to the Bar about Calder's omission of the alleged judgment. His complaint was dismissed by the Bar's screening panel which determined that ". . . the complaint was not timely filed . . . and, therefore, determined that it would be dismissed for that reason." (Tr. 122). After that determination was made, however, Calder unilaterally volunteered (with no pressure from the Bar's counsel or the Board) to ". . . proceed with amending the schedules and getting the matter taken care of." Id.

Based on his then-existing understanding that effecting an amendment to Bailey's bankruptcy schedules was a simple, ministerial task for which the bankruptcy court would charge only a \$10.00 amendment fee, Calder agreed to solve the problem through Bailey's payment of that fee. (Tr. 123). However, unbeknownst to Calder, Bailey's bankruptcy case had been closed by the court and the files had been shipped to a central filing office in Denver, Colorado. (Tr. 329). The additional fee to reopen the case would be \$50.00. (Id.; Trial Exs. B-15 and B-16).

During his telephone conversations with the Bar's counsel, Jeffery C. Paoletti, Calder expressly stated his position that he was entitled to payment of an additional attorney's fee to cover the ". . . additional work that he was doing."

(Tr. 125). While ". . . the resolution at the end of that conversation was that [Calder] was to take an additional \$15.00," the issue of the additional attorney's fees quoted by Calder was unresolved inasmuch as Paoletti understood that Calder was not prepared to waive any of his attorney's fees to solve the problem. Id. Unfortunately, Paoletti never provided Calder with any writing memorializing his perception of Calder's voluntarily assumed commitment to amend Bailey's bankruptcy schedules. (Tr. 137, 138).⁴

In Finding No. 1(g), the Panel found that:

Though [Calder] presented conflicting evidence as to the agreement, the Panel accepted [Paoletti's] testimony as the most credible evidence of [Calder's] agreement to represent Mr. Bailey in amending his Bankruptcy."

However, Paoletti himself frankly acknowledged in his testimony that ". . . I don't have a clear recollection of all of the events." (Tr. 121).

In any event, by letter dated December 16, 1983, Calder informed Bailey that Calder's net charges for effecting the amendment would be \$120.00 -- \$70.00 for attorney's fees and

⁴ Paoletti's confirming letter was sent only to Bailey. (Trial Ex. B-12).

\$50.00 for filing fees. (Trial Ex. B-16). As noted above, Bailey paid only \$15.00 of the quoted charges. (Tr. 51). In January, 1984, Calder filed a motion to reopen Bailey's bankruptcy proceeding so that the purported judgment could be discharged. (Trial Ex. B-18). Calder admitted that the motion was incomplete and would need to be supplemented. (Tr. 530). However, because Bailey refused to pay any more than \$15.00 of the charges quoted by Calder, Calder refrained from noticing up for hearing the motion to reopen. (Tr. 330, 529). On February 15, 1984, the bankruptcy court sua sponte denied the motion without prejudice. (Trial Ex. B-19). Its order explicitly stated that the motion could be later renewed. Id.⁵

Upon learning of the court's action, Bailey berated Calder's office staff. (Trial Ex. B-20; Tr. 356). Calder accordingly informed Bailey by letter dated February 16, 1984 that he should find new counsel. (Trial Ex. B-20). With that letter, Calder enclosed the entire contents of Bailey's file and a check in the amount of \$15.00 as a voluntary refund of the monies Bailey had previously paid. Id.

⁵ Indeed, two months later, Bailey hired new counsel who did just that and succeeded in having the allegedly omitted judgment lien discharged. (Trial Ex. B-22; Tr. 101).

In its Findings, the Panel cast these events in the following terms:

[1]b. In or about October 1983, [Calder] entered into an engagement with Mr. Bailey, arranged through Bar Counsel, C. Jeffrey Paoletti, to resolve an investigation of a disciplinary complaint filed by Mr. Bailey against [Calder]. By this engagement, [Calder] agreed that he would obtain an amendment to Mr. Bailey's bankruptcy schedules and obtain a discharge for Mr. Bailey of a judgment debt owed by Mr. Bailey to Richard D. and Morren C. Harris in the sum of about \$1,400.00.

c. [Calder] agreed to complete the engagement and achieve the objective upon Mr. Bailey's paying \$10.00 for additional attorney's fees; Mr. Bailey made said payment of \$10.00 to [Calder].

d. After accepting the engagement and agreeing upon the fee to be charged, [Calder] demanded additional money from Mr. Bailey, in the amount of \$120.00, in order to initiate the engagement. Mr. Bailey complained to Mr. Paelotti [sic] about this additional fee.

e. Subsequent to the October 1983 engagement, numerous communications were exchanged between Mr. Bailey and [Calder], and between [Calder] and Bar Counsel which concluded with [Calder] reaffirming his agreement to continue representing Mr. Bailey in amending the bankruptcy schedules. Mr. Bailey paid an additional \$15.00 to [Calder], at [Calder]'s request, in furtherance of the engagement.

f. After reaffirming the engagement, [Calder] filed documents with the Bankruptcy Court on behalf of Mr. Bailey as Mr. Bailey's counsel.

g. Though [Calder] presented conflicting evidence as to the agreement, the Panel accepted former Bar Counsel C. Jeffrey Paelotti's [sic] testimony as the most credible evidence of [Calder]'s agreement to represent Mr. Bailey in amending his Bankruptcy.

h. [Calder] filed a Motion to Reopen Mr. Bailey's case, but the Motion was inadequate on its face.

i. After filing the Motion with the Bankruptcy Court, [Calder] failed to follow through with his representation of Mr. Bailey by failing to schedule the Motion to Reopen for hearing and by failing to present the Motion to the judge for consideration.

j. The Motion to reopen was denied, and, immediately upon learning of the Court's order, [Calder] withdrew from representing Mr. Bailey. At no time after February 16, 1984, did [Calder] make any effort to obtain substitute counsel for Bailey, return the \$10.00 paid by Bailey, refund any portion of the original attorney's fees and costs paid by Bailey for the Chapter 7, take any steps with the Department of Motor Vehicles to assist Bailey obtain a driver's license or, in any other way, assist Bailey in achieving the desired objective."

A year later, in 1985, Bailey filed a civil complaint against Calder for malpractice. That complaint was dismissed with prejudice at the conclusion of Bailey's case in chief at trial. (Tr. 7). Before Bailey's complaint was dismissed, however, Calder prepared, signed and filed an affidavit in the malpractice case. (Trial Ex. B-26). Calder admitted at the

bar trial that several of the statements in the affidavit were false. He insisted, however, that the misstatements were inadvertent. (Tr. 337-39, 355, 483, 531). The Panel, in Finding No. 1(k), determined that the misstatements were made "knowingly and intentionally." (R. 123-4).

C. Job Complaint and Disposition.

In representing Job, Calder omitted from Job's bankruptcy schedules the existence of a lawsuit in which Job had an interest. (Finding No. 2(b); R. 151-2). The suit was entitled Job, et al. v. Pocklington, et al., United States District Court for the District of Utah, Civil No. C82-1085C (the "Pocklington Case"). Calder readily admits that he did not "take reasonable steps and precautions to ensure that this cause of action was properly scheduled and listed in Job's Chapter 7 case." (Finding No. 2(b); R. 151-2). He does, however, deny that Job ever mentioned that the Pocklington Case had in fact been filed; that he was ever informed of the amount of damages sought in the Pocklington Case; that he was ever provided with any papers generated in the Pocklington Case; or, that he was ever informed of the identity of any counsel in the Pocklington Case. (Tr. 196, 199, 200). Indeed, the only information Job gave to Calder about the Pocklington case was that it was a "possible claim

against Pacific Coast League for defamation of Peter Pocklington, value undetermined." (Tr. 196, 406).

Several months after filing the Chapter 7 petition for Job, Calder suggested and Job agreed that a Chapter 13 petition be filed on the heels of the Chapter 7 for the dual purposes of administering and preserving the Pocklington Case and forestalling Job's mortgage lender from foreclosing its mortgage against Job's home. (Tr. 151- 52). After the Chapter 13 petition was filed, Job failed to attend the first meeting of creditors. (Tr. 235, 504). Both Calder and his secretary testified that before the meeting Calder repeatedly and heatedly urged Job to be in attendance. (Tr. 506, 703). When Job failed to do so, Calder filed with the bankruptcy court a motion for leave to withdraw as Job's counsel. (Tr. 238-39, 432). Job received a copy of that motion shortly after it was mailed on July 3, 1984. (Tr. 160, 238-39). Court hearing on the motion was conducted more than one month later on August 6, 1984, at which time the motion was granted. (Tr. 239). In the face of those facts, however, the Bar found that:

"[Calder] withdrew from representing Mr. Job in July, 1984, without Mr. Job's consent or knowledge. At the time of his withdrawal [Calder] knew that it would be difficult for Mr. Job to obtain substitute counsel to resist the Chapter 13 trustee's pending motion for dismissal." (Finding No. 2(e)).

At a hearing on August 8, 1984, Job's Chapter 13 petition was dismissed and his previous Chapter 7 discharge was revoked, with the result that Job admittedly did not obtain any final relief in bankruptcy. (Finding No. 2(g)). However, according to Bankruptcy Judge, Judith A. Boulden, Job consented to that action: the court inquired ". . . if that's what he wanted done and he [Job] said 'yes'." (Tr. 634).

Job subsequently sought to retain new counsel to file a Chapter 11 petition to forestall an impending trustee's sale on his house. (Tr. 169). After engaging new counsel, he was informed by that counsel on the very morning of the sale that counsel would not file the Chapter 11 petition unless and until certain additional attorney's fees were paid. Id. Job was unable to timely pay the required fees. Id. As a result, his Chapter 11 petition was filed several minutes after the trustee's sale was conducted. (Tr. 169-70). There is no evidence that Job's successor counsel ever sought to vacate the trustee's sale as a violation of the automatic stay by arguing that the filing of his Chapter 11 petition occurred before the trustee's deed was delivered.

In September, 1984, Job filed a malpractice action against Calder. (Finding No. 2(i)). Although Calder had already filed and was operating under his own Chapter 13 plan, Calder

neglected to list Job as a creditor. (Finding No. 2(j)). However, according to Calder, that failure was attributable to his misapprehension that Job's claim constituted a post-petition debt which could not be discharged in bankruptcy. (Tr. 442-45, 512, 779-81). Accordingly, Calder refrained from informing the state court of the imposition of the automatic stay until February, 1986. Id.

On July 16, 1985, Calder filed a motion to reopen Job's Chapter 11 proceeding. (Finding No. 2(k)). The Panel determined that the motion was filed "solely with the intent to harass, injure and annoy Mr. Job." Id. That finding, however, ignores any mention of the justification advanced by Calder for the filing of the affidavit: to discharge his obligation as an officer of the court to inform the court that false or otherwise improper disclosures were being made by a debtor seeking its protection. (Tr. 450).

On July 18, 1985, Calder filed an affidavit in Job's state court case. (Finding No. 2(m)). In that affidavit, Calder set forth possible explanations that he had for the omission of the Pocklington Case as an asset on Job's bankruptcy schedules. Those explanations were found by the Panel to be lacking in factual basis and ". . . indicative of an attitude of bad faith which pervades [Calder's] conduct in connection with the Utah

State Bar disciplinary proceedings and the court proceedings." (Finding No. 2(n)).

D. Calder Bankruptcy Petitions.

Just before the court entered a judgment against Calder in Job's state court action, Calder transferred an allegedly ". . . substantial portion of his property to his wife and brother." (Finding No. 2(o)). Calder testified that the purpose for the transfers was two-fold: to designate his wife as a joint tenant with rights of survivorship for estate planning purposes and to secure a loan obligation that he had just incurred to his brother in the amount of \$40,000.00 to pay the IRS for back taxes. (Tr. 512-16, 544, 755-57). In addition, a review of Calder's bankruptcy schedules discloses that the value of assets transferred to his wife was insubstantial. (Compare Trial Exs. B-32 and B-33; Tr. 605, 389-402). The validity and legality of those transfers are ". . . the subject of pending adversary proceedings" by Calder's Chapter 7 trustee. (Finding No. 2(o)) (Emphasis added). According to the trustee, those proceedings have not yet been resolved. (Tr. 565).

One of Calder's Chapter 13 petitions was dismissed in 1986 on the basis that it was filed in bad faith. (Finding No. 3). The Panel determined that Calder's intent in filing the Chapter 13 was ". . . to frustrate the claims of Job and Bailey."

Id. In determining that intent, however, the Panel ignored Calder's explanation that his purpose for filing the 1984 petition was to save his house from an IRS sale and his purpose for filing the 1986 petition was to keep the assets of his law practice from being levied upon and dismembered by Job to the ultimate detriment of both Calder and his other creditors. In addition, that finding fails to reflect that in November, 1988, Calder posted a cash supersedeas bond in the amount of \$55,000.00 to fully satisfy Job's judgment (Tr. 790, 793-94). It also fails to reflect that Bailey's state court claim was dismissed with prejudice, no cause of action. (Tr. 7).

When Calder filed the statement of affairs in his 1986 Chapter 7 case, he utilized a pre-printed form statement for a debtor "not engaged in business," despite the fact that he was engaged in business. (Finding No. 4). However, Calder's trustee in bankruptcy acknowledged that he (the trustee) was not prejudiced or confused in any way by Calder's use of the technically incorrect form since the substance of required disclosures on both forms was substantially identical. (Tr. 598).

The Panel determined that Calder failed to fully and accurately disclose assets on his 1986 Chapter 7 bankruptcy schedules. (Finding No. 5). It held that the assets -- without identifying which ones and what they were worth -- listed on

those schedules were "substantially less" than those listed in either of Calder's 1984 or 1986 Chapter 13 schedules. A review of those schedules, however, belies this finding. (See Trial Exs. B-30, B-31, B-32 and B-33). The finding also ignores the fact that many of the so-called discrepancies were attributable to Calder's wife's interests being reflected on the 1984 filing and only his interests being reflected on the 1986 filing. (Tr. 394,515).

Despite the fact that the Bar's Complaints made no mention of the Bar's intent to impose sanctions against Calder for the bankruptcy court's denial of a general discharge in his own Chapter 7 case, and despite Calder's objection to the Panel's consideration of that issue, Tr. 179-83, the Panel made a specific finding that ". . . Calder's failure to list certain assets in his Chapter 7 bankruptcy was done 'knowingly and fraudulently'"⁶ (Finding No. 6). It is unclear what effect the Panel's unanticipated injection of this issue at trial had on its recommendation of disbarment.

⁶ Because the "undisclosed assets" consisted of two bank accounts having a balance of no more than \$5.00 and an undefined and completely worthless interest in an unspecified mineral claim, Calder has recently appealed this order to the United States Court of Appeals for the Tenth Circuit.

In similar fashion, the Panel made a specific finding -- although it never made the allegation in any of the Complaints -- that Calder was denied the absolute right to convert his Chapter 7 case to a Chapter 13 case "in order to prevent [an] abuse of the bankruptcy process." (Finding No. 7). That finding is devoid of any mention that Calder has timely appealed that decision to the federal court.

Based on the Findings, the Panel concluded that Calder breached several disciplinary rules for which he should be disbarred. (Conclusions of Law Nos. 1 and 2).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

1. The Complaint in the Bailey case was confined to the 1983 to 1985 time frame and the Complaint in the Job case was confined to the 1983 to 1986 time frame. Although both Complaints focused only on Calder's failure to adequately protect his clients' interests, and neither gave any hint of the Bar's intent to challenge the sufficiency of Calder's disclosure to the bankruptcy court in connection with his own personal bankruptcy filings, the Bar allowed the admission of substantial evidence on this issue. Its decision to do so unfairly prejudiced Calder in his ability to understand, respond to and rebut the only evidence that the Panel could find to support its finding of "dishonesty and fraud."

2. In deciding the Bailey Complaint, the Panel completely misapprehended the 1979 version of Section 41-12-15 of the Utah Motor Vehicle Act. By doing so, the Panel was induced to issue a series of clearly erroneous factual findings -- findings based on its mistaken view of the law. Each of these findings must be vacated.

3. Because it is the sole and ultimate responsibility of the Supreme Court to impose discipline on lawyers, this responsibility cannot be delegated unqualifiedly to the Bar. As such, the Bar's Findings, Conclusions and Recommendation are advisory in nature and are entitled to little of the deference customarily accorded lower court determinations. Under this standard of review, few of the Findings, Conclusions and Recommendations can be sustained.

4. Many of the Findings of fact upon which the Panel concluded that Calder should be disbarred were either not established by clear and convincing evidence and/or are so clearly erroneous as to require that they be vacated. If any of the Findings are so vacated, the resulting Conclusions and Recommendation cannot stand and must be reversed.

5. The Panel improperly failed to consider or find any mitigating factors during the penalty phase of the proceeding. Had it properly applied the applicable ABA Standards for

Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, the severity of the proposed Recommendation would have been considerably reduced. Accordingly, the case should be remanded to the Panel with instructions to reconsider the Recommendation in light of these mitigating factors.

6. In light of the extraordinary extent to which (i) neither the findings nor the Recommendation conform to the Bar's Complaints, (ii) the Findings are unsupported by the evidence and (iii) the Recommendation exceeds the scope of the Findings, the Panel's recommendation of disbarment is so flawed as to render the Panel's action arbitrary, capricious and unreasonable. On that basis, the Findings and Conclusions must be vacated and the Recommendation rejected.

ARGUMENT I

THE PANEL IMPROPERLY AND PREJUDICIALLY CONSIDERED ISSUES FAR BEYOND THE EXPRESS OR IMPLIED SCOPE OF ITS COMPLAINTS AGAINST CALDER.

A careful review of the Bar's formal Complaints in the Bailey and Job proceedings, see App. ii and iii infra, discloses that the conduct to be scrutinized by the Panel in the Bailey case was confined to the 1983 to 1985 time frame and the conduct to be scrutinized in the Job case was confined to the 1983 to 1986 time frame. Both Complaints focus only on Calder's failure to adequately protect his clients' interests. Neither Complaint

offers any real clue that the Bar intended to challenge the sufficiency of Calder's disclosures to the bankruptcy court in connection with his own personal bankruptcy filings.

At trial, however, the Bar allowed its own appointed prosecutor to introduce a multitude of such evidence. Specifically, it allowed the introduction of the bankruptcy schedules and statements of affairs which Calder filed in his personal bankruptcies. (See Trial Exs. B-30, B-31, B-32, B-33). It also allowed, over Calder's objection, see Tr. 179-83, the introduction of a memorandum decision and order dated September 27, 1988, in which the bankruptcy court denied Calder a general discharge in bankruptcy for his supposedly knowing and fraudulent omission of certain assets from his bankruptcy schedules. (See Trial Ex. B-39).⁷ In addition, the Panel allowed the introduction of an order dated November 18, 1988, in which the bankruptcy court denied Calder's motion to convert his Chapter 7 proceeding to a Chapter 13 proceeding.⁸

⁷ As indicated at n.6 supra, the "undisclosed assets" are de minimis and their non-disclosure as a basis for denying Calder a general discharge in bankruptcy is currently on appeal.

⁸ Calder has also appealed this decision to the United States District Court for the District of Utah in Case No. 89-C-59W. This appeal is still pending.

Utah law recognizes that "the attorney against whom the accusations [of unethical conduct] have been made is entitled to a fair hearing and an opportunity to know all that he must meet and the right to present such evidence as he may be able to produce, to rebut or overcome the allegation of misconduct." In re Strong, 616 P.2d 583, 586 (Utah 1980) (Emphasis added). Clearly, the Panel's decision, over Calder's objection, to allow the introduction of the non-dischargability decision prejudiced Calder by injecting 1988 issues into what the Bar represented were 1983 to 1986 Complaints. The admission into evidence of Calder's bankruptcy schedules and statements of affairs and the bankruptcy court's 1988 orders disposing of those filings was completely improper. It prejudicially expanded the scope of the allegations against Calder without any advance notice or meaningful opportunity to rebut the new charges. If ever there was a procedural ambush at the O.K. Corral, it is this case.

The Bar may well argue that because Calder's former counsel failed to object to some of the procedural action challenged by this appeal, Calder impliedly consented to an expansion of the issues originally articulated in the two Complaints. However, it is well recognized that the presence of unfair prejudice to the party against whom evidence on previously undisclosed issues is offered, precludes any finding that the

party impliedly consented to the trying of that issue. As Professor Moore has stated:

The purpose of an amendment to conform to proof is to bring the pleadings in line with the actual issues upon which the case was tried; therefore an amendment after judgment which brings in some entirely extrinsic issue or changes the theory on which the case was actually tried is not permissible, even though there is evidence in the record -- introduced as relevant to some other issue -- which would support the amendment. This principle is sound since it cannot be fairly said that there is any implied consent to try an issue if the parties do not squarely recognize it as an issue in the trial. The test should be whether the defendant would be prejudiced by the implied amendment, i.e., whether he had a fair opportunity to defend and whether he could offer any additional evidence if the case were to be retried on a different theory. In terms of the Rule, where such prejudice is found, it can be said that no implied consent exists."

3 Moore's Federal Practice ¶ 15.13[2] at 15-131 (1989). (Emphasis added).

Thus, in the case at hand, it can safely be said that Calder's understanding and expectation of the claims asserted against him was that they were defined and measured by the Complaints -- Complaints that nowhere mentioned or called into question the propriety of his conduct in his own personal bankruptcies. The justification advanced by the Bar's prosecutor for the admission of such evidence -- that proof of Calder's conduct

in his own bankruptcies was relevant to his state of mind, see Tr. 182 -- never put Calder on notice that his 1988 conduct was at issue and could form the basis for substantive findings of improper conduct for which he could be disbarred. As such, there is no way Calder could be deemed to have impliedly consented to an amendment of the Complaints.

Moreover, many courts have stated that failure to object alone does not constitute implied consent. Southwestern Stationery and Bank Supply, Inc. v. Harris Corp., 624 F.2d 168 (10th Cir. 1980) (when plaintiffs sought a Rule 15(b) amendment on the basis of evidence which was also relevant to the pleaded claim, there was no implied consent to the trial of the unpleaded claims even though the defendant made no objection to the evidence); McCleod v. Stevens, 617 F.2d 1038 (4th Cir. 1980) (since all evidence introduced was relevant to the pleaded equitable claim, failure of defendant to object to its admission was not an implied consent to trial of an unpleaded damages claim).

The applicability of this principle to Calder's appeal is obvious: while the Bar sought to justify the introduction of the 1988 conduct on the basis that it went to Calder's state of mind in his representation of Messrs. Bailey and Job, the Panel then used the 1988 conduct as substantive support for separate factual findings that Calder acted unethically. On that basis,

no fewer than five of the twelve separate Findings (Findings Nos. 3, 4, 5, 6 and 7) articulate various aspects of Calder's 1988 conduct. From those findings, the Panel then issued a multitude of conclusions of law reciting Calder's supposed "dishonesty and fraud." See e.g. Conclusions Nos. 1(b), (c), (d) and 2(b)).⁹ In other words, Calder never understood, nor could he reasonably have been required to understand, that the evidence of his 1988 conduct adduced by the Bar's prosecutor would be relied upon as an independent basis for the making of substantiative findings of fact on which the Bar would base its decision (at least in part) to disbar him. As such, it cannot be said that Calder impliedly consented to the introduction of such issues.

Finally, there is at least one additional reason militating against any finding that Calder impliedly consented to being tried for his 1988 conduct. Under Utah R. Civ. P. 9(b), the Bar would have been required to state with particularity the circumstances alleged to constitute the fraudulent or dishonest conduct of which it was complaining. (See Rule XII(b) of the

⁹ Interestingly, the Panel's only conclusions of "dishonesty and fraud" are those based upon Calder's 1988 conduct in his own bankruptcies -- conduct never disclosed by the Complaints. Take away that conduct and this proceeding presents, at best, little more than a lawyer's inadvertent neglect of his clients' interests, hardly a case justifying disbarment.

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