1989

# West Valley City v. Lyle Olsen : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Defendant was properly charged and convicted of driving without a valid driver's license. Defendant, at all stages, was put on the requisite notice of the nature of the charges against him. Defendant failed to timely object to any alleged defects and has failed to make any showing of prejudice.

## ARGUMENT

The Defendant was put on notice as to the charge being brought against him when the officer issued him Citation 94701 for violating West Valley City Ordinance 41-2-2, No Driver's License. The numbering system for the Utah Code Annotated was changed in July of 1987. West Valley City attempts to maintain its ordinances in a manner consistent with the State statutes and changed its numbering system at the end of 1987. 41-2-2 was changed to 41-2-104 in both the Utah Code Annotated and the West Valley City Ordinances. The violation for which Mr. Olsen was charged was not changed by the numbering revision. No driver's license under 41-2-2, as quoted above, is clearly what the Defendant was originally charged with. No request was ever made for discovery concerning this code section. The information amended the charge to section 41-2-125 but alleged the same facts, that the "Defendant operated a motor vehicle without having been granted driving privileges from the State of Utah." The facts as testified to by the officer and the admission of the certified driving record from the Department of Motor Vehicles, showed that the defendant did not have a valid driver's license because he had let it expire and had not renewed it as required in 41-2-125 for him to have a valid driver's license. Charging for an expired license distinguishes the situation from a driving on suspension or simply having no driver's license making this section more specific for this situation. The defendant, Mr. Lyle Olsen, was tried and convicted for operating


a motor vehicle without having been granted driving privileges from the State of Utah because he had failed to renew his driver's license. A copy of section 41-2-125 was given to the jury in a jury instruction. An element instruction was also given. No objections as to the elements outlined in the instructions were made at the time of trial which would preclude the Defendant from raising such objections at this time.

Defendant's rights were not prejudiced in any manner due to the use of the old numbering on the citation or the clarification on the information as he in every instance was put on notice of the offense charged. The language used in the citation and the information informed the defendant of the nature of the offense charged. The information charged the offense for which he was prosecuted by stating in concise terms the definition of the offense sufficient to give the defendant notice of the charge as required by Rule 4, Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure, UCA 77-35-4. In a similar situation, the Utah Supreme Court held that an amendment of information to correct a statute citation was proper because only the statutory reference was changed, the language apprised the defendant of nature of charge against him and no prejudice was shown. State v. Lancaster, 765 P.2d 872 (Utah 1988). Defendant's allegations are without merit and also not timely made.

### CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, the City respectfully suggests the jury properly found the Defendant guilty of driving without a valid driver's license and asks this Court to affirm that decision. The Defendant was clearly put on notice as to the offense he was being charged with, driving without a valid driver's license and he was convicted of driving without a valid driver's license as a result of its expiration. He had numerous opportunities to make specific requests for discovery concerning all of these code sections. He also had the opportunity of submitting his own jury instructions and making specific objections to the instructions given but he choose not to exercise these options. The Defendant has made no showing of any prejudice caused by the misnumbering. The City submits that the misnumbering was a harmless error and that the Defendant was properly charged and convicted of driving without a valid driver's license. For these reasons, the Respondent respectfully requests that this Court affirm the conviction.